
 IPSASB Meeting (March 2013) Agenda Item 1.3 
  

Approved Minutes of the Meeting of the 

INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD 

Held on December 3–6, 2012 in New York, USA 

1. Attendance, Opening Remarks, and Approval of Minutes 
1.1 Attendance – New York, USA 

 
 Voting Members Technical Advisors 

Present: Andreas Bergmann (Chairman) 

David Bean (Deputy Chair) 

Ian Carruthers 

Marie-Pierre Cordier (Monday) 

Mariano D’Amore 

Rachid El Bejjet 

Sheila Fraser (Monday-Tuesday) 

Kenji Izawa 

Hong Lou 

Massud Mazaffar 

Thomas Müller-Marqués Berger 

Anne Owuor (Monday-Wednesday AM) 

Jeannine Poggiolini 

Ron Salole 

Adriana Tiron Tudor 

Ken Warren 

Tim Youngberry 

Stefan Berger (Mr. Bergmann) 

Baudouin Griton (Mme. Cordier) 

Stuart Barr (Ms. Fraser) 

Sajjad Ahmad (Mr. Mazaffar) 

Gillian Waldbauer (Mr. Müller-Marqués 
Berger) 

Lindy Bodewig (Ms. Poggiolini) 

Marta Abilleira (Mr. Umansky) 

Joanne Scott (Mr. Warren) 

Takeo Fukiya (Mr. Izawa) 
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Apologies: Isaac Umansky 

 

Fabrizio Mocavini (Mr. D’Amore) 

Aziz El Khattabi (Mr. El Bejjet) 

Tim Beauchamp (Mr. Salole) 

Clark Anstis (Mr. Youngberry) 

Yangchun Lu1 (Dr. Lou) 

Chris Wobschall (Mr. Carruthers) 

Mary Foelster (Mr. Bean) 

 

 

 

 Non-Voting Observers 

Present: John Verrinder (Eurostat) 

Robert Dacey (INTOSAI) 

Dinara  Alieva (UNDP) 

Brian Quinn (World Bank) 

Apologies: Jón Blöndal (OECD)  

Abdul Khan (IMF)2  

Martin Koehler (EC)3 

Henricus Seerden (EIB) 

Sagé de Clerck (IMF)4 

Ian Mackintosh (IASB)  

Chandramouli Ramanathan (UN) 

Darshak Shah (UNDP)5 

Simon Bradbury (ADB) 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

1  Guohua Huang attended in place of Yangchun Lu for this meeting. 
2      Chita Marzan attended in place of Abdul Khan for this meeting. 
3      Rosa Aldea Busquets attended in place of Martin Koehler for this meeting. 
4      Majdeline El Rayess attended in place of Sagé de Clerck for this meeting. 
5  Helen Hall attended in place of Darshak Shah for this meeting. 
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 IFAC Staff 

Present: Stephenie Fox, Director, IPSASB 

John Stanford, Deputy Director, IPSASB 

Annette Davis, IPSASB 

Jens Heiling6, IPSASB 

Gwenda Jensen, IPSASB 

Lisa Parker, GASB  

Paul Sutcliffe, IFAC 

Wayne Travers, IFAC Communications 

Apologies: Grant Macrae, IPSASB 

Jim Sylph, Executive Director, Professional Standards 

1.1 Attendance List & Apologies 

The Chair welcomed members and thanked them for their efforts in terms of IPSASB communications 
activities. He acknowledged the contribution to the IPSASB’s work of Mr. Isaac Umansky who is absent 
from his last IPSASB meeting due to his professional commitments in Uruguay. 

1.3 Approval of Minutes 

The Minutes of the September 2012 IPSASB meeting were approved unanimously as presented. 

1.4 Communications and Liaison  

As noted above in 1.1. 

1.5  Eurostat Study 

Mr. John Verrinder, the Eurostat observer, provided an update on the study on the suitability of IPSASs 
for EU Member States. The assessment report has not yet been published but is expected in January 
2013. Mr. Verrinder commented on the diversity of views and emphasized the desire to have not only a 
report but also to develop a process to ensure recommendations are implemented. Mr. Verrinder also 
highlighted the importance of addressing existing governance arrangements and acknowledged that the 
IPSASB is taking steps in this regard.  

The draft report and related staff working document currently includes seven chapters, of which the first 
four are factual in nature in terms of current practices and IPSASs. The final three chapters address 
implementation processes for accrual accounting, an assessment of the suitability of IPSAS for EU 
Member States and recommendations for moving forward. 

Taking into account the views of Member State authorities and public consultation, the global conclusion 
is expected to be twofold. On one hand, it seems clear that IPSASs cannot be simply implemented in EU 
Member States in their current state. On the other hand, most stakeholders agree that IPSASs represent 

6     Jens Heiling has been seconded to the IPSASB until the end of January 2013. 
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an indisputable reference framework for potential EU harmonized accruals-based public sector accounts 
("EPSAS").  

In order to move forward in the process, three possible stages have been identified: 

1. Preparatory stage - to gather more information and develop a roadmap. This would involve 
further consultations, a high-level conference, and the preparation of further more detailed 
proposals. There is a clear need to achieve momentum on both "harmonisation" and "accruals”.  

2. Practical arrangements - addressing issues such as finance, governance, possible synergies, 
concerns of smaller government entities. This would also need to address linkages with the 
IPSASB and mechanisms to assist implementation. 

3. Implementation stage - gradual, possibly phased, envisaged to be achieved in all Member 
States in the medium-term.  

One member noted her disappointment at not participating in the task force based on her status as a 
European member. She also highlighted a conference being organized among European audit offices in 
2013 to consider the accounting standards. Members also noted that the final report is only considered 
the start of the debate and process to ensure better information for decision making and reporting. Mr. 
Verrinder thanked the IPSASB for their attention.  

1.6 IASB Workplan Summary  

A staff analysis of the potential impacts of the IASB’s workplan on IPSASs was tabled. The staff-prepared 
tables documenting differences between IPSASs and IFRSs as a result of new and amended IFRSs were 
noted. 

1.7   Tracking Table 

Staff compiled a list of documents of substantial convergence with underlying IFRSS up to November 
2012. This document was tabled at the meeting. 

2. Conceptual Framework (Agenda Item 2)  
2.1 Coordinator’s Report (AP 2)7  
The IPSASB considered a report from the Project Coordinator dealing with: 

• Project plan; 

• The revision of the ED, Key Characteristics of the Public Sector with Potential implications for 
Financial Reporting (Key Characteristics) and its incorporation as a Preface in the Framework; 

• The approach to the withdrawal of the current qualitative characteristics (QCs) of financial reporting in 
IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements; and 

• Developments in the International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB) recently reactivated 
Conceptual Framework project.  

7  The Project Brief for the Conceptual Framework consists of three subject groups. Group 1 addresses: the role, authority and 
scope; objectives and users; qualitative characteristics, and the reporting entity (also referred to as Phase 1). Group 2 
addresses elements of GPFSs and recognition (also referred to as Phase 2), and Group 3 addresses measurement (also 
referred to as Phase 3) and presentation and disclosure (also referred to as Phase 4). 
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Project Plan  

The Coordinator directed members to the project plan in the appendix to the agenda item. He noted that 
this was the version circulated following the September and reflected the IPSASB’s decision to aim to 
approve the Phase 1 chapters in December 2012, to include Key Characteristics as a preface to the 
Framework, and to issue the Phase 1 chapters in advance of the chapters from the other phases if 
approved.  

The Coordinator repeated the point made at previous meetings that the the timing for completion of the 
Framework remains very tight and demanding in some places, despite the approval of the Phase 2 
(Elements and Recognition) and 3 EDs (Measurement) in September 2012 and their subsequent 
publication in early November 2012. It was noted that there is only one meeting for a review of responses 
to the Phase 4 ED and a further meeting for finalization of the final chapter on Presentation. Although 
there are two meetings for reviews of responses for both the Phase 2 ED and the Phase 3 EDs the April 
30th 2013 consultation expiry date for both EDs means that the first review of responses in June is likely 
to be high level. 

The Coordinator asked members if they wanted to modify the timetable at this stage. Members decided 
not to make modifications at this time, but to review the timetable in the first quarter of 2013 in the light of 
progress on Phase 4. 

Revision of Key Characteristics with View to Incorporation as a Preface  

The Coordinator noted that at the March meeting the IPSASB gave directions for further development of 
Key Characteristics with a view to its approval and incorporation into the Framework as a preface. Staff 
had modified Key Characteristics for consideration as a preface, rather than for its original purpose, which 
was as a high-level education piece aimed at those with an interest in accounting concepts, but limited 
knowledge of the public sector. The Preface was discussed at Agenda Item 2A. 

Withdrawal of QCs in IPSAS 1 

It was agreed that the approach to withdrawal of the QCs in IPSAS 1 would be considered following 
approval of the Phase 1 chapters (see Agenda Item 2A). 

IASB Conceptual Framework Project 

The Coordinator noted that the IASB had agreed its approach to the development of its recently 
reactivated Conceptual Framework project and highlighted the main aspects: 

(a) The project is focusing on elements of financial statements (including recognition and 
derecognition), measurement, reporting entity, presentation and disclosure; 

(b) There will be a single Discussion Paper covering all of the above areas and then a single 
Exposure Draft (ED), rather than separate project phases, which was the original proposed 
approach; and  

(c) The framework is an IASB project, rather than a joint project with any other standard-setter;  

The Discussion Paper is expected to be issued in the first half of 2013. An ED is expected in 2014 and 
the project is expected to be completed in the second half of 2015. This timetable is as, if not more, 
demanding as that of the IPSASB. The Coordinator noted that the IASB is not intending to reopen the 
chapters on Objectives of Reporting and QCs, which were finalized before the project was paused. 
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The IASB is setting up a consultative group for this project. National standard-setters, or regional 
organizations of standard-setters, are expected to constitute a significant proportion of the membership of 
the group. 

2A. Conceptual Framework Phase 1 – Review of draft of final Conceptual 
Framework  
At this meeting the IPSASB undertook a detailed page by page review of the Introduction, Preface and 
first four chapters of The Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public 
Sector Entities (the Conceptual Framework). As part of its review the IPSASB considered comments 
made by members in the out of session review of the draft chapters during October 2012.  

The IPSASB considered whether the term “IPSASs and non-authoritative guidance” used throughout the 
Framework should be replaced by the term “IPSASs and other pronouncements”, to future proof the 
Conceptual Framework against the possibility that the IPSASB may develop documents other than 
IPSASs which include authoritative requirements for financial reporting on matters outside the financial 
statements. After some discussion, the IPSASB agreed that the term “IPSASs and Recommended 
Practice Guidelines” (RPGs) should be adopted throughout the Conceptual Framework to focus more 
sharply on the message intended – that is, that the IPSASB will apply the concepts in the Framework in 
developing IPSASs and RPGs. The IPSASB also noted that this terminology may need to be revisited if, 
at some time in the future, it developed additional categories of documents that prescribed authoritative 
requirements.   

The IPSASB agreed that the term “CF–ED1” previously used to identify the Exposure Draft of the Phase 1 
chapters should be replaced with the term “Exposure Draft”, and this form of referencing should be 
adopted in the final chapters of all phases of the Conceptual Framework. The IPSASB also confirmed the 
amendments proposed by staff in response to matters raised by members in the out of session review in 
October 2012. Members identified the following additional amendments to the Introduction and first four 
chapters of the Conceptual Framework: 

Introduction and Contents:  

• The chapter titles should be: 

o Chapter 1: Role and Authority of the Conceptual Framework 

o Chapter 2: Objectives and Users of General Purpose Financial Reporting 

o Chapter 3: Qualitative Characteristics 

o Chapter 4: Reporting Entity 

The IPSASB directed that consequential changes be made to references to particular chapters in 
the text of the Framework.  

• The references to Chapters that have not yet been completed and issued should be removed 
from the “Contents” page of the Conceptual Framework. 

Chapter 1: Role and Authority of the Conceptual Framework 

• Paragraph 1.2: the phrase “and disclosure” is to be deleted. 

• Paragraph 1.3: the first sentence is to be revised to remove reference to the Conceptual 
Framework having “lesser authority” than IPSASs and non-authoritative guidance. The sentence 
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is to commence with the phrase: “The Conceptual Framework can provide guidance in dealing 
with…” 

• Paragraph 1.6: the sequence of the first and second sentences is to be reversed. 

• Basis for Conclusions: “Chapter 1” is to be deleted from the heading of the Basis for Conclusion 
to be consistent with the identification of the Basis for Conclusions in the contents page to 
Chapter 1. The IPSASB agreed that a similar approach is to be adopted for the headings of the 
Basis for Conclusions section in Chapters 2, 3 and 4 — that is, the chapter number is not to be 
included in the heading.  

• Paragraph BC1.2: this paragraph explains that after the Conceptual Framework is issued the 
IPSASB intends to progressively review extant IPSASs and RPGs and identify and, through 
application of the due process, address instances of substantial conflict with the Conceptual 
Framework. The IPSASB expressed its continuing support for such review and follow up action to 
occur in a reasonable time frame following issue of the Conceptual Framework. However, the 
IPSASB agreed that this explanation was better placed in the Handbook of IPSASs than as a 
paragraph in the Basis for Conclusions to Chapter 1 of the Conceptual Framework. Accordingly, 
the IPSASB agreed that paragraph BC1.2 is to be deleted and the substance of the paragraph is 
to be: 

o Included in the Terms of Reference section of the IPSASB Handbook where the due 
process of the IPSASB is outlined; and 

o Acknowledged in the media release that accompanies issue of the first four chapters of 
the Conceptual Framework. 

• Paragraph BC1.3: the IPSASB considered revisions to the paragraph proposed by staff to 
respond to comments received from Members in the out-of session review and agreed that the 
third sentence of the paragraph is to be deleted and the remaining two sentences merged and 
culled such that the paragraph reads:  

“The Conceptual Framework underpins the development of IPSASs. Therefore, it has relevance 
for all entities that apply IPSASs. GPFRs prepared at the whole-of-government level in 
accordance with IPSASs may also consolidate all governmental entities whether or not those 
entities have complied with IPSASs in their own GPFRs.” 

Chapter 2: Objectives and Users of General Purpose Financial Reporting 

• Paragraph 2.7: the IPSASB noted a staff proposal that, subject to decisions regarding the text of 
the Preface, the explanation of exchange and non-exchange transactions currently included in 
the Preface would be added as a footnote to this paragraph. 

• Paragraph 2.11: the IPSASB noted, and agreed, a proposal to use the term “resources” rather 
than “public monies” in the first dot point of paragraph 2.11. The IPSASB also noted that the term 
“public monies” was used elsewhere in the text and agreed that the term “public monies” should 
be replaced by “resources” throughout the text of all Chapters.  

The IPSASB also agreed that the explanations of liquidity and solvency in the second dot point of 
the paragraph as proposed by staff, including the use of “for example” in those explanations, 
should be retained. 

• Paragraph 2.12: the term “other charges” is to be replaced by the term “resources raised”.  
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• Paragraph 2.15: the word “enable” in the fifth line is to be replaced with “assist” such that the 
phrase will read “will assist users to determine whether operating costs were recovered…” 

• Paragraph 2.20: the IPSASB agreed that the phrase “(whether described as “surplus or deficit,” 
“profit or loss,” or by other terms)” should be deleted from paragraph 2.22 and included in this 
paragraph to clarify the use of the term “financial results”.  

• Paragraph 2.31: the observation in the third line “However, GPFRS will not provide all the 
information users need.” is to be revised to read “However, it is unlikely that GPFRs will provide 
all the information users need…” 

• Paragraphs BC 2.7 through 2.11: The IPSASB noted proposals for revising the sequence of 
these paragraphs in different ways but, after some discussion, agreed that the current sequence 
was to be retained. 

• Paragraph BC2.15: The final sentence which notes that “In addition, the Framework includes a 
Preface which outlines the key characteristics of the public sector.” is to be deleted:  

• Paragraph BC2.17: The observation in the second dot point that “the IPSASB’s Terms of 
Reference has been updated to overcome this concern” is to be deleted.  

• Paragraph BC2.18: The reference to “as noted in the Preface to the Conceptual Framework” is to 
be deleted. 

Chapter 3: Qualitative Characteristics 

• Paragraph 3.3 is to be restructured as proposed by staff. 

• Paragraph 3.15: the IPSASB confirmed that the final sentence (struck through in the marked up 
draft) is to be deleted. 

• Paragraph 3.34: the IPSASB agreed that the alternative structure of this paragraph as proposed 
by a member is to be adopted. However, the IPSASB subsequently noted that it is not 
appropriate that text reflect that the Conceptual Framework “classifies materiality” in a particular 
way, and agreed the first sentence in the existing paragraph 3.34 should be retained. 

• Paragraph 3.40: the IPSASB agreed that the text should reflect that requirements are prescribed 
by IPSASs when the benefits of compliance with them are assessed by the IPSASB to “justify 
their costs”, and directed staff to consider, and process as appropriate, any consequential 
changes to the text of the Basis for Conclusions. 

• Paragraph BC3.7: the IPSASB noted that staff had queried whether this paragraph should be 
retained in the Basis for Conclusions. After some discussion the IPSASB agreed that it provided 
useful background to the IPSASB’s consideration on the operation of faithful representation in 
certain circumstances and should be retained in the Basis for Conclusions. 

• Paragraph BC3.9: the IPSASB agreed that the observations made in this paragraph had broad 
applicability and were not linked to only faithful representation. The IPSASB directed that the 
paragraph be repositioned to follow paragraph BC3.3, with appropriate refinements to the text 
consequent on its repositioning.  

• Paragraph BC3.20: the IPSASB agreed that it was not appropriate that text reflect that the 
Conceptual Framework “recognizes” the potential of timely reporting to increase the usefulness of 
information. Rather, it is the IPSASB that “recognized” this potential and identified and explained 
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the QCs accordingly. (Members agreed that the first sentence of the revised paragraph 3.34 was 
also subject to a similar concern – see above.) 

• Paragraph BC3.24: the IPSASB agreed that this paragraph responded appropriately to a 
proposal made in responses to the out of session review in October 2012 that the relationship 
between faithful representation and verifiability be further clarified. 

• Paragraph BC3.35: the IPSASB noted that staff had queried whether this paragraph should be 
retained in the Basis for Conclusions. After some discussion, the IPSASB agreed that the 
paragraph included useful explanation of how the IPSASB may apply the cost-benefit test in 
particular circumstances and should be retained. 

Chapter 4: Reporting Entity 

• Paragraph 4.11: the IPSASB noted proposals for amendment to the subheading preceding this 
paragraph to better reflect the paragraph’s content. After some discussion, the IPSASB agreed 
the subheading was not necessary and is to be deleted. The IPSASB also considered whether 
reference to “public corporations” should be retained in the first sentence of the paragraph and 
after some discussion agreed that all the examples of public sector entities that may have a legal 
entity should be deleted from the sentence. Consequently, the sentence is to read:  

 “The government and some other public sector entities have a separate identity or standing in 
law (a legal identity).” 

• Paragraphs BC4.1, BC4.2 and BC4.7: the IPSASB considered whether these paragraphs added 
value to the Basis of Conclusions, and agreed that they did and should be retained.  

Additional Editorial Amendments to Chapters 1–4  

It was noted that some minor editorial amendments to the text had had been identified by Members and 
staff. The IPSASB agreed that these be addressed as the text is finalized.   

Approval 

The IPSASB approved for publication the Introduction to, and first four Chapters of, The Conceptual 
Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities. 

The results of the vote were: In Favor 17, Absent 1. 

The Preface to the Conceptual Framework 

The IPSASB reviewed a Preface to the Conceptual Framework. The Preface was prepared by staff based 
on exposure draft, Key Characteristics of the Public Sector with Potential Implication for Financial 
Reporting and responses thereto as directed by the IPSASB at the March 2012 meeting. Members noted 
staff views that the Preface: 

• Is of considerable length and inclusion of a lengthy Preface in the Conceptual Framework may 
deflect attention from the concepts and their explanation; and  

• Would work better if retained as a companion piece to the Framework rather than as part of the 
Framework, to place the concepts and approach in context.  

The IPSASB discussed whether the Preface should be repositioned as a companion piece as proposed 
by staff. The IPSASB also discussed whether a dot point summary of its major features should be 
included as the final paragraph of Chapter 1. After a brief discussion, the IPSASB decided that an 
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additional paragraph should not be added to Chapter 1. Rather, the IPSASB agreed that the Preface 
should continue to have the status of a Preface, be substantially condensed and revised as outlined 
below, with approval of the final Preface to be sought at the next IPSASB meeting. The IPSASB also 
agreed that at the next meeting it would revisit and further consider the analysis of submissions received 
to the exposure draft of the Key Characteristics to ensure that the revisions responded appropriately to 
matters raised by respondents. 

 

General and pervasive issue 

• The Preface should avoid references explicitly contrasting the public sector and the private sector 

Introduction 

• This section should be largely deleted, except for paragraph 1. 

• The purpose should be stated more clearly to highlight features of the public sector that underpin 
the development of IPSASs and RPGs and that the Conceptual Framework responds to; and  

• Because the eventual Preface will be much shorter than the original Key Characteristics ED, 
there is no need for the listing of sections in paragraph 8. 

Volume and Financial Significance of Non-Exchange Transactions and Involuntary Transfer 

• This section deals with two separate issues and therefore should be two separate sections:  

○ Public sector entities  do not have the primary purpose of generating profits; and 

○ Prevalence of non-exchange transactions; and 

• Paragraph 16 on the funding of international organizations should be brought forward to the 
introductory paragraph. 

The Importance of the Approved Budget 

• This section should be substantially retained; 

• It should be clearly stated that the budget functions as an authorization mechanism, an approval 
to undertake transactions, and also provides information as input for forecasts of revenues and 
expenditure ;and 

• The second sentence of paragraph 18 stating that “Historically, the budget has been prominent in 
communicating with citizens” should be deleted. 

The Nature and Purpose of Assets 

• Most of paragraph 20 contrasting the reasons for holding property, plant and equipment in the 
private sector and the public sector should be deleted and/or absorbed in the section which 
explores some consequences of non-profit –seeking objective of public sector entities; 

• The social housing example in paragraph 20 should also be deleted; 

• Paragraph 21 on specialized assets should be retained with a brief reference to measurement; 

• Paragraph 22 on heritage assets should be retained, but the intergenerational linkage in 
paragraph 23 should be explained better; 
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• The short section on ownership or control of natural resources and phenomena should be 
incorporated in this section. 

The Longevity of the Public Sector 

• This section should be shortened and most of paragraphs 24 and 25 deleted; 

• Going concern should be at the core of the section ;and 

• The reference to the long-term nature of programs should be retained.  

Regulatory Role of Public Sector Entities 

• Paragraph 29 should be retained but should also note that governments may regulate themselves 
and to briefly note the potential consequences, but the contrast with the private sector in 
paragraph 29 should be deleted. 

Ownership or Control of Rights to Natural Resources 

• Paragraph 31 should be retained, but moved to the section on Nature and Purpose of Assets in 
the Public Sector 

Importance of Statistical Bases of Accounting 

• The section should be retained, but shortened; 

• Paragraph 35, which describes the sub-divisions of the public sector for statistical reporting 
purposes is too detailed and should be deleted; and 

• In discussing the purposes of statistical reporting the wording in the Consultation Paper, IPSASs 
and Government Finance Statistics Reporting Guidelines, should be considered with a view to 
incorporation. There should also be an acknowledgement that Governments report  and use 
information on statistical bases and unnecessary differences should be eliminated 

Some reservations were expressed over the amount of agenda time provided for the review of responses 
to the ED at the March 2012 meeting. The IPSASB therefore directed that there should be a further 
review of the responses to the ED at the March meeting. 

2.1 Approach to Withdrawal of QCS in IPSAS 1 (continued) 

Following approval of the Phase 1 chapters the IPSASB considered whether Appendix A to IPSAS 1, 
Presentation of Financial Instruments, should be withdrawn on issue of the Phase 1 chapters. Appendix A 
of IPSAS 1 describes the QCs that underpin the current suite of IPSASs. Staff noted that, following 
approval of Chapter 3 of the Framework, there would be two sets of QCs in the IPSASB literature, and 
therefore in the 2013 Handbook, and that this would be potentially confusing to users. 

Staff explained that the reason for the inclusion of the QCs in an appendix of IPSAS 1 was that, unlike the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), IPSASB’s predecessor, the Public Sector Committee, 
did not have a Framework, and therefore a set of QCs, in place when the first eight IPSASs were 
developed and approved. At that time, it was decided that the Appendix to IPSAS 1 was the appropriate 
vehicle to introduce the explanation of the QCs into the literature. IPSAS 1 had been based on IAS 1 to 
the extent it was applicable for the public sector. There is no equivalent Appendix in IAS 1, Presentation 
of Financial Statements, because the explanation of the QCs is included in the IASB’s Conceptual 
Framework.  
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Staff considered that it would be inappropriate to retain the QCs in IPSAS 1, because they no longer 
reflect the Board’s current position on QCs. Staff therefore favored narrow scope editorial changes to 
withdraw Appendix A of IPSAS 1 and any direct references to that Appendix. Staff expressed the view 
that this could be done without further due process, because of the extensive due process that the QCs 
had been subjected to in the development of Phase 1, which included an explanation of differences 
between the proposed QCs and those in IPSAS1.  

Staff proposed to delete the references to Appendix A in the following paragraphs and IPSASs:  

1. IPSAS 3.13; 

2. IPSAS 18.15(c); 

3. IPSAS 24.27 

Staff further proposed to delete the reference to Appendix A in the Contents page of IPSAS 1 and 
paragraph 15(c) of IPSAS 18, Segment Reporting, except for the initial reference to “the qualitative 
characteristics of financial reporting.” Staff explained that, in these paragraphs, a reference to the QCs 
would lead users to the explanation of the QCs in Chapter 3 of the Framework. Staff also proposed to 
delete paragraphs IG1-IG21 of the Implementation Guidance in IPSAS 18, which repeat material from 
Appendix A of IPSAS 1.  

Staff noted that the Phase 1 chapters and the other chapters of the Framework, when finalized, are likely 
to prompt a number of other amendments to the current suite of IPSASs, including use of terms such as 
“reliability” and cross references to the IASB Framework in, for example, the “hierarchy” of authoritative 
and other guidance in IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.  

Staff proposed that such other amendments to the current suite of IPSASs, consequential on the approval 
of first four chapters of the Conceptual Framework, should be identified and addressed on a phased basis 
in 2013 and beyond.  

While some members supported the view that the inclusion of two sets of QCs in the 2013 Handbook 
would be confusing for users and for the narrow scope approach proposed by staff, members did not 
support the withdrawal of Appendix A without further due process. Many members noted that the Basis 
for Conclusions to the Phase 1 Exposure Draft had explicitly stated that changes to the existing suite of 
IPSASs would not be made without further due process. Members therefore decided that Appendix A in 
IPSAS 1 should not be withdrawn at this time. In order that users are aware of how the two sets of QCs to 
existing pronouncements and IPSASs and RPGs under development staff was directed to include a clear 
statement above Appendix A of IPSAS 1 that the QCs in IPSAS 1 continue to apply to existing 
pronouncements but that the QCs in Chapters 3 will be used in the development of new IPSASs and 
RPGs. 

The IPSASB decided that the mechanism and timing for withdrawal of IPSAS 1 should be considered at a 
future meeting with other potential consequential changes to IPSASs resulting from issue of the Phase 1 
chapters. The 2013 Handbook will clarify that, while Appendix A is still authoritative for existing IPSASs, 
the QCs in the Framework will be applied in the development of future IPSASs and Recommended 
Practice Guidelines.  
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2B.   Conceptual Framework Phase 4 – Review of further a draft Exposure Draft 
(ED), Presentation in General Purpose Financial Reports and directions to 
Staff for further development.   

The IPSASB reviewed a draft Exposure Draft (ED), Presentation in General Purpose Financial Reports 
and provided direction to Staff for further development of the ED.   

The IPSASB directed that the ED should take a more decision focused approach to describing the overall 
approach. The display/disclosure distinction should be integrated into the decision focused approach 
instead of treated as a separate section in the ED. The terminology descriptions should be improved 
through reordering and more emphasis on the most important ideas related to each term. The phrase 
“complete set of high level information”, applied to display should be replaced with “provides the 
necessary high level information”. Consequential on the IPSASB’s September decision to discontinue use 
of the core/supporting information distinction, Diagram 1, previously included in the consultation paper, 
should not be included in the ED.  

The IPSASB agreed with the proposal that application of the constraints should form part of the overall 
approach to presentation. Application of the constraints should be integrated more fully into the ED.  

The coverage presently in Section 2 of the ED should remain at a high level rather than include further 
detail. The proposed objectives should be simpler and more generic. The term “presentation objectives” 
should be replaced with “report objectives”. Report objectives for particular information areas should be 
included in a separate section from the description of the overall approach, with one possible location 
being an appendix to the ED. The objective for financial statements should be simplified to exclude 
specific reference to reporting on cash and on budget performance, while leaving open the possibility that 
such reporting is treated as a subset within the financial statements information area. In addition to the 
report objectives a generic objective for presentation should be developed.  

The ED should address decisions about whether information should be shown: (a) in the financial 
statements as opposed to the more comprehensive scope GPFRs, (b) in the notes to the financial 
statements as opposed to element recognition, and (c) in the notes to financial statements as opposed to 
disclosure in the more comprehensive scope GPFRs. Element recognition should be integrated into the 
discussion of display in financial statements. The relationship between element recognition and 
information displayed in financial statements should be addressed, acknowledging that display is related 
to but not dependent on recognized elements. The relationship between recognition in financial 
statements and disclosure in the broader GPFR area should be addressed. 

The IPSASB directed that the three presentation concepts should be rationalized. They should be 
focused on the three presentation decisions with the QCs and constraints applied to each decision.   

Staff should ensure that references to Chapters 1 to 4 of the Conceptual Framework are consistent with 
the approved chapters and up-dated for decisions on those chapters made during the December meeting, 
including the decision to refer to “IPSASs and RPGs” instead of “pronouncements”. The statement that 
“disclosed information is of equal importance to information that is displayed” should be amended to 
“information that is disclosed is important to a proper understanding of information that is displayed”. The 
Basis of Conclusions should be reviewed for coverage that could be included in the ED itself. For 
example, paragraphs BC8, BC14, and BC15 may be better placed within the ED. 

The ED’s coverage could begin with a generic description of a GPFR, and then address the boundary 
issue between financial statements and more comprehensive scope GPFRs. The presentation approach 
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would be covered next, beginning with its relationship to the needs of users and GPFR objectives, then 
(1) reporting objectives, (2) information to be presented, including display, disclosure and recognition, (3) 
presentation decisions (what, where, how organized), then (4) application of the QCs and constraints. 

The IPSASB directed that a revised draft ED be provided to Members for an interim review before the 
March 2013 IPSASB meeting. A further draft ED will be considered at the March 2013 meeting. The 
planned date for approval of the ED remains March 2013. 

3. Service Performance Reporting (Agenda Item 3) 
The IPSASB continued discussions of the responses received to the Consultation Paper (CP), Reporting 
Service Performance Information. 

The IPSASB agreed that the question of whether non-authoritative or authoritative (voluntary or 
mandatory standard) guidance should be developed could not be answered at this time. The IPSASB 
agreed that in order to be consistent, principles need to be developed as to when each type of guidance 
is appropriate, rather than addressing this question on a project by project basis. As a result, the IPSASB 
directed the staff to develop a draft of these principles for further discussion. 

The IPSASB confirmed Preliminary View 3 being “the components of service performance information to 
be reported are: (1) information on the scope of the service performance information reported, (2) 
information on the public sector entity’s objectives (3) information on the achievement of objectives, and 
(4) narrative discussion of the achievement of objectives.” The IPSASB also confirmed Preliminary View 4 
being “the qualitative characteristics of information and pervasive constraints on the information that is 
currently included in GPFRs of public sector entities also apply to service performance information.” 

The IPSASB reached agreement on the following specific matters for comment presented in the CP: 

• This project should not identify specific indicators of service performance. 

• Service performance information included in GPFRs should be prepared for the same reporting 
entity as for GPFSs. 

• The dimensions of service performance information include : 

o Information on the public sector entity’s objectives, including the need or demand for 
these objectives to be achieved; 

o Input, output, outcome, efficiency, and effectiveness indicators, including service recipient 
perceptions or experience information; 

o Comparisons of actual performance to projected (or targeted) results, including 
information on the factors that influence results; and 

o Time-oriented information, including comparisons of actual results over time and to 
milestones. 

• The IPSASB should not prescribe where a public sector entity reports service performance 
information but rather provide that all service performance information could be reported in either 
the currently issued GPFR or in a separately issued GPFR. 
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4.     Oversight and Governance (Agenda Item 4)  
The Technical Director provided a verbal update on recent activities related to oversight and governance 
of the IPSASB. The recent approval by the IFAC Board of changes to the IPSASB’s terms of reference, 
effective for 2014 was highlighted. It was noted that the change means that the 15 IPSASB members who 
previously had to be nominated by IFAC member bodies can now be nominated from a much broader 
group, including governments, international organizations and even the general public. The nominating 
process is unchanged and decisions on membership will continue to consider a number of factors to 
balance the Board. Members responded generally positively to the change, noting it as a positive signal to 
constituents. One member expressed disappointment that the IPSASB was not consulted on the change 
prior to it being considered by the IFAC Board and expressed a view that while the change is positive it is 
less significant given that the nominations committee process is unchanged. Members discussed the 
distinction between these members and the three members designated as public members. 

Members and observers discussed generally the importance of transparency in the nominating and 
appointment processes. 

The Technical Director also updated members on the recent meeting of the Public Interest Oversight 
Board (PIOB) attended by the Executive Director, Professional Standards. It was noted that the PIOB 
continues to be willing to take on public interest oversight of the IPSASB, including being open to changes 
in the composition of the PIOB to ensure public sector interests are adequately represented. IFAC has 
also indicated its willingness to contribute towards the costs of public interest oversight of the IPSASB for 
a minimum period, as yet unspecified.  

The Monitoring Group (MG) intends to discuss the issue of whether the PIOB should assume oversight of 
the IPSASB at its next meeting, tentatively February 2013. However, it was noted that the composition of 
the MG has changed considerably and that there is a need to provide further information on the IPSASB 
to the new membership. Generally speaking there appears to be a trend from positivity about the PIOB 
taking on IPSASB oversight to a more neutral position by the MG. On this basis the Chair indicated that 
there may need to be consideration of an alternative approach to oversight arrangements that is 
dedicated to the IPSASB.  

One of the observers from the IMF commented on the importance of new oversight arrangements for the 
IPSASB and the fact that these will improve the Board’s credibility. It was also noted that ultimately other 
governance changes will also be considered and that the timing of these continues to evolve. 

 

5. Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis (Agenda Item 5)   

Continue to Develop the Draft IPSAS into Authoritative Guidance  

The IPSASB discussed whether or not to continue to develop the draft IPSAS, Financial Statement 
Discussion and Analysis (FSDA) into an authoritative standard. There were two main areas of discussion: 
(a) audit and assurance issues and (b) the need for criteria to be developed for the determination of the 
status of a document, i.e., should a document become an authoritative standard or non-authoritative 
guidance. 

Audit and Assurance Issues 

The IPSASB received a letter from the Swiss Federal Audit Office which was tabled at the meeting.  In the 
letter the Audit Office expresses its concerns over the auditability of ED 47. The Audit Office gives an 
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example that ED 47 would require a public sector entity to include information on objectives and strategy, 
an analysis of trends, and information about risks. The Audit Office considered that an auditor may find it 
almost impossible to provide the same level of assurance for this type of information as for the financial 
statements.  However, the Audit Office also considered that FSDA will be classified as “other information” 
which would come within the scope of ISA 720, The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other 
Information in Documents Containing or Accompanying Audited Financial Statements and the Auditor’s 
Report Thereon where the auditors responsibility is to read that other information to identify possible 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements.  A member indicated that the audit office in 
their jurisdiction might also submit comments to the IPSASB on this matter.  The Chairman requested that 
members of the Board that are auditors submit comments to the IPSASB on this matter.   

Several members expressed concerns that entities will have problems in asserting compliance with 
IPSASs applicable to the general purpose financial statements if they do not follow the proposed 
requirements in the draft IPSAS even though FSDA, as defined in ED 47, would not be a component of 
the general purpose financial statements. 

Several members commented that that the decision as to whether or not FSDA is audited will be 
determined by the framework under which the entity’s financial statements are audited.  For example, if 
the draft FSDA standard is considered to be a part of the financial reporting framework within a 
jurisdiction then it will be considered to be a part of the financial statements for audit purposes. 

A member commented that defining the scope of the audit is separate from defining the scope of the 
financial statements.  Another member added that this is not always the situation and therefore is specific 
to the jurisdiction.  

A member commented that auditors are concerned that expressing an opinion on FSDA would create 
considerable additional work. Another member added that both the cost of preparing a FSDA and the cost 
of auditing it (where it is audited) will be borne by the entity and the IPSASB has not considered this 
aspect. 

Another member added that the issue of auditability does not just affect this project; it also affects other 
projects that the IPSASB is currently progressing such as the Reporting on the Long-Term Sustainability 
of an Entity’s Finances project. The IPSASB directed staff to contact both the International Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) and the International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions 
(INTOSAI) about this issue. 

Criteria for Determining Status of Document 

Several members expressed the view that the status of the draft FSDA IPSAS cannot be resolved until 
the IPSASB develops a set of criteria to determine whether or not a document should be an authoritative 
standard or non-authoritative guidance. Another member considered that it is an issue of the “IPSAS” 
brand.  This member considered that if an entity can claim compliance with IPSASs and not comply with 
the draft FSDA IPSAS then it will devalue the IPSAS brand. 

Several members considered that the draft FSDA IPSAS should be an authoritative standard.  It was 
suggested that this is consistent with the IPSASB’s decision to develop its Conceptual Framework to 
apply to general purpose financial reports rather than the more limited scope general purpose financial 
statements, because FSDA is critical in an entity being able to meet the accountability objective of 
general purpose financial reporting. 
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A member proposed that one of the criteria to determine the status of a document is whether or not that 
topic is an essential component of GPFRs and, if it is, then it should be an authoritative standard.  
Alternatively if that topic is not essential to the understanding of the GPFRs then the document should be 
non-authoritative guidance. 

A member suggested that the draft FSDA IPSAS should be a “financial reporting standard” rather than an 
IPSAS because FDSA is not a component of the financial statements. 

The IPSASB directed staff to continue to develop the draft FSDA standard into an authoritative standard.  
The issue of the status of the draft FSDA IPSAS will be considered when criteria have been developed for 
the determination of the status of a document. 

Review of Draft IPSAS 

The IPSASB reviewed the draft IPSAS and members made comments on specific paragraphs, as follows: 

• Paragraph 2, first sentence: ... An entity that prepares and presents financial statements 
under the accrual basis of accounting using IPSASs shall prepare and present financial 
statement discussion and analysis in accordance with apply this Standard when preparing 
its financial statement discussion and analysis. 

• Paragraph 5B: Delete ... in the same published document 

• Paragraph 5C, first and second sentences: Move back to original position as paragraph 3 and 
amend: This Standard applies only to financial statement discussion and analysis and shall be 
published with It does not apply to other information included in public documents issued at the 
same time as the financial statements.  Delete the third sentence. 

• Paragraph 6: Delete second sentence. 

• Paragraph 9A: Delete. 

• Paragraph 9B, second and third sentences: It also provides the opportunity to provide an reflect 
the entity’s interpretation of significant items, events and transactions and events affecting the 
financial performance and position of the entity. Therefore, financial statement discussion and 
analysis complements and supplements the information in the financial statements. 

• Paragraph 9C: Financial statement discussion and analysis shall include Iinformation in 
financial statement discussion and analysis shall meet that possesses the qualitative 
characteristics of financial reporting taking into account the constraints on information 
included in GPFRs.  

• Paragraph 9D, add new second sentence: Materiality, cost-benefit, and achieving an appropriate 
balance between the qualitative characteristics are pervasive constraints on information included 
in GPFRs. 

• Paragraph 9D, third sentence: See Phase 1 Chapter 3 of the Conceptual Framework for further 
details. 

• Paragraph 9E: Delete. Should this paragraph state that materiality should be assessed in the 
context of materiality for the financial statements? 

• Paragraphs 10A and 10B: Delete. 
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• Paragraph 13A: After this paragraph insert a new paragraph similar to IPSAS 1.37: “Departures 
from the requirements of an IPSAS in order to comply with statutory/legislative financial reporting 
requirements in a particular jurisdiction do not constitute departures that conflict with the objective 
of financial statements set out in this Standard as outlined in paragraph 31. If such departures are 
material, an entity cannot claim to be complying with IPSASs.” 

• Paragraph 14: Insert sentence to encourage entities to comply with both regulatory requirements 
and the requirements in this IPSAS. 

• Paragraph 15: To the extent it supplements and does not replicate information 

• Paragraph 15: Amend sub-paragraphs (a)–(d) using the wording from paragraphs 17B, 18A, 20A 
and 26B. 

• Paragraph 17B: Move to paragraph 15. 

• Heading above paragraph 18A: Delete “financial”. 

• Paragraph 18A: Move to paragraph 15. 

• Paragraph 19: Financial statement discussion and analysis discusses the entity’s financial 
objectives and strategies in a way that enables users of the financial statements to understand the 
entity’s priorities and to identify the resources that must be managed to achieve these objectives 
and strategies. Financial statement discussion and analysis also explains how the achievement of 
the entity’s financial objectives (e.g., debt reduction strategy) will be measured and over what time 
period the achievement will be measured. 

• Paragraph 20A: Amend and Move to paragraph 15. An entity shall provide a description of its 
financial performance for the period and the significant items, events and transactions and 
events that have affected it the financial statements in the reporting period. 

• Paragraph 23: Replace with text similar to IPSAS 1.53: Except when an IPSAS permits or 
requires otherwise, comparative information shall be disclosed in respect of the previous 
period for all amounts reported in the financial statements. Comparative information shall 
be included for narrative and descriptive information when it is relevant to an 
understanding of the current period’s financial statements. 

• Paragraph 24: Reinstate deleted text in a separate paragraph. 

• Paragraph 26A: Delete. 

• Paragraph 26B: Amend and move to paragraph 15. Add text relating to uncertainties and 
opportunities.  Sub-paragraph (a) should be restricted to financial risks.  Sub-paragraph (c) should 
be amended to “an explanation of changes in those risks...”  Delete sub-paragraphs (d) and (e). 

• Paragraph 28: A member considered that the examples in this paragraph are very private sector 
oriented and should be changed to public sector examples.  Another member commented that 
these examples are relevant to local authorities in certain jurisdictions.  The Chairman directed 
staff to consider whether or not the examples in this paragraph are necessary. 

• Implementation Guidance: Delete. 

Other Comments 

Members also commented on the content of the Basis for Conclusions, as follows. 
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• The Basis for Conclusions should include an explanation that entities can still apply this standard 
where they do not prepare their financial statements using accrual basis IPSASs. 

• The Basis for Conclusions should also discuss the rationale for the insertion of paragraph 17A 
which explains that information required to be disclosed in the financial statements by relevant 
IPSASs can be included in the FSDA by means of a cross-reference rather than duplicating that 
information.  IPSAS 30, Financial Instruments: Disclosures could be cited as an example. 

Next Steps 

The IPSASB agreed that a revised draft IPSAS, acknowledging that the status of the guidance will be 
considered separately, will be considered at the March 2013 meeting. 

6.     Need for Cash Basis IPSAS (Agenda Item 6)  
The Chair welcomed participants, led by Mr. Jesse Hughes, from the International Consortium of 
Government Financial Managers (ICGFM), who provided a presentation on their experiences in assisting 
governments with implementation of the cash basis IPSAS. Mr. Hughes noted the support of ICGFM for 
accrual IPSASs and the need for governments to move in this direction. However, good cash reporting is 
necessary to lay the foundation before an accrual accounting system can be established. In addition, 
many developing countries and countries in transition do not yet have the capacity to move from a good 
cash reporting system to an accrual accounting system.  

Mr. Hughes highlighted a number of specific difficulties encountered with Part 1 of the cash basis IPSAS 
and provided the IPSASB with a number of recommendations that would improve the standard and assist 
with implementation. 

Members asked a number of questions about the experiences and noted the difficulties. Some members 
noted their agreement with the observations and commented specifically on issues of capacity of 
governments. Other members expressed uncertainty about the role of the cash basis standard in the 
context of developing and implementing accrual IPSASs. Members generally continue to support accrual 
accounting as the long term goal but recognize that adopting the cash basis IPSAS may be part of the 
road map towards adoption of accrual accounting.  

One member raised the issue of improving accountability and how to enhance this through accounting 
systems. Frustration was expressed with the lack of leadership in laying the foundation for accountability. 
ICGFM expressed their support for taking a stronger position on the adoption of IPSASs and eliminating 
corruption but also noted their need for assistance from the IPSASB in addressing difficulties with the 
cash basis IPSAS.  

Mr. Hughes thanked the IPSASB for their time.  

7. First-Time Adoption of Accrual IPSASs (Agenda Item 7)  

Revised Approach for the Assessment of Proposed Transitional Provisions  

The IPSASB broadly agreed that the basket classifications for transitional provisions should be labeled as 
category 1 and category 2 transitional provisions with category 1 not affecting fair presentation, and 
category two affecting fair presentation.  

Members generally supported the view that, in some cases, category 2 transitional provisions may be 
justified because of practical considerations but that transitional provisions that affect fair presentation 
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should be used cautiously by entities. Members generally supported the view that while applying a 
category 2 transitional provision, entities should not be allowed to assert compliance with IPSASs and to 
claim fair presentation. It was proposed that entities which use category 2 transitional provisions should 
rather disclose that they are “in transition to accrual basis IPSASs”. Such an approach would provide 
more transparency than the existing approach in IPSASs which does not make this distinction. 

Revised Assessments of Proposed Transitional Provisions 

The IPSASB discussed the revised assessments of proposed transitional provisions of IPSAS 1 to IPSAS 
18, based on the decisions reached at the September 2012 meeting. The IPSASB noted the agenda 
papers also included an analysis of IPSASs 2, 3, 9, 10, 14 and 15 which had not been included in the 
September 2012 Agenda Papers. 

IPSAS 1: Presentation of comparative information in an entity’s first IPSAS financial statements 

Staff made no changes to the proposed transitional provision. Entities are encouraged to provide 
comparative information in an entity’s first IPSAS financial statements but are not required to provide 
comparative information. The IPSASB confirmed that this transitional provision should be considered as a 
category 1 transitional provision. 

IPSAS 2, Cash Flow Statements and IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors 

The IPSASB confirmed that for IPSAS 2 and IPSAS 3 no transitional provisions should be provided. 

IPSAS 4: Accounting for cumulative translation differences at first-time adoption of IPSASs 

Staff made no changes to the proposed transitional provision. The existing transitional provisions in 
IPSAS 4 related to first-time adoption should be incorporated in the first-time adoption ED. The IPSASB 
confirmed that this transitional provision should be considered as a category 1 transitional provision. 

IPSAS 4: Translation to a presentation currency using a rate determined centrally by an entity 

The issue was raised at the September 2012 meeting of the IPSASB. Staff has provided an assessment 
of this issue. As the issue not only affects entities at first-time adoption but also in subsequent reporting 
periods, the IPSASB confirmed that this issue should be considered in an Improvements project. 

IPSAS 5: Retrospective capitalization or expensing of borrowing costs 

This proposal was based on IPSASB’s recommendation taken at the September 2012 meeting that staff 
should also look at situations where an entity has capitalized borrowing costs under its previous basis of 
accounting and decides to apply the benchmark treatment at first-time adoption. Staff proposed to keep 
the existing transitional provision in IPSAS 5, i.e. entities should merely be encouraged to apply IPSAS 5 
retrospectively. The IPSASB generally disagreed with this view. 

With regard to the proposed alternative provisions it was noted that these are already captured by an 
encouragement to apply IPSAS 5 retrospectively. Members pointed out that the benchmark treatment of 
IPSAS 5 is not consistent with the treatment of borrowing costs under GFS, and therefore the question 
was raised whether relief should be provided for entities which have previously expensed borrowing costs 
and elect, on first time adoption, to capitalize borrowing costs. The Board raised concerns whether 
retrospective capitalization or expensing of borrowing costs can be considered as a specific transitional 
accounting issue at first-time adoption as such an issue could also occur when an entity already applies 
IPSAS 5 and changes its accounting policy. It was argued that for first-time adoption, entities should not 
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be provided more relief than those which already apply IPSASs and change their accounting policy with 
respect to borrowing costs. It was noted that where entities have expensed borrowing costs under their 
previous basis of accounting (e.g. entities applying the cash basis of accounting) and elect to apply the 
allowed alternative treatment at first-time adoption, they might face transitional accounting issues (e.g. 
entities might not have the necessary records for retrospective application). In this instance, the Board 
discussed whether entities should be allowed, rather than required, to capitalize only some borrowing 
costs retrospectively.  

Based on the rationale that the IPSASB does not want to encourage entities to apply the allowed 
alternative treatment, the Board generally supported the view that no transitional provision for 
retrospective application of IPSAS 5 should be included in the ED on first-time adoption of accrual basis 
IPSAS. The Basis for Conclusions of the ED should outline the Board’s rationale for this decision. 

IPSAS 6 and 8: Requirement to present consolidated financial statements at first-time adoption of accrual 
basis IPSASs and requirement to fully eliminate balances, transactions, revenues, and expenses between 
entities within the economic entity according to IPSAS 6.45 and IPSAS 8.35 where the proportionate 
consolidation of IPSAS 8 is adopted 

Staff proposed that no transitional provisions should be provided for the presentation of consolidated 
financial statements at first-time adoption of accrual basis IPSASs. The IPSASB discussed whether 
consolidated financial statements for the General Government Sector (GGS) could be an appropriate 
intermediate step instead of full consolidation at first-time adoption. Members saw merit in a phased 
approach but supported the view that the focus regarding consolidation at first-time adoption should be on 
the end result. Consolidated financial statements based on GGS are not able to display the risks involved 
with controlled entities that are outside the GGS. Members also questioned (a) the operationalization of 
consolidation based on GGS/Whole-of-Government accounts, (b) the ability of entities to assert fair 
presentation, (c) the consideration of GGS as a reporting entity and (d) the scope of the relief provided. It 
was mentioned that the requirement to present consolidated financial statements at first-time adoption 
needs to be considered in the context of the existing transitional provisions in IPSAS 6 and IPSAS 8 
where relief for the full elimination of balances, transactions, revenues, and expenses between entities is 
provided. In this context the completeness of all the entities which needs to be consolidated were seen as 
more important than the eliminations. A majority of members favored an approach where an entity is 
required to present consolidated financial statements comprising all entities which need to be 
consolidated, but the entity is given relief from the requirement to fully eliminate balances, transactions, 
revenues, and expenses between entities at first-time adoption. The IPSASB considered whether the 
transitional provision to fully eliminate balances, transactions, revenues, and expenses between entities 
at first-time adoption should be for balances and for transactions or for balances at the date of transition 
only. Because of the linkage of this transitional provision with the requirement to present consolidated 
financial statements the IPSASB generally supported the view that relief should be provided for balances 
as well as transactions, but that entities would be encouraged to eliminate those balances and 
transactions that are known. A relief period of 3 years before an entity is required to perform such 
eliminations was considered as appropriate. Staff considered this transitional provision as a category 2 
transitional provision. 

IPSAS 6, 7 and 8: Determination of the initial cost of (i) a controlled entity in the separate opening IPSAS 
statement of financial position, (ii) an investment in an associate, (iii) joint venture in the separate opening 
IPSAS statement of financial position. 
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At the September meeting staff proposed to use the relief as provided by IFRS 1.D15. Staff made no 
changes to the proposed transitional provision and pointed out that it should also apply to joint ventures. 
The IPSASB confirmed that the transitional provision should be considered a category 1 transitional 
provision.  

IPSAS 8: Measurement and recognition of jointly controlled assets and liabilities at first-time adoption (cf. 
IPSAS 8.22 et seq.) 

At the September meeting staff proposed to add a clarification in the ED that for its jointly controlled 
assets and liabilities a joint venturer is allowed to make use of the respective transitional provisions of the 
IPSAS on first-time adoption of accrual basis IPSASs. Staff made no changes to the proposed transitional 
provision. The IPSASB confirmed that a categorization of the transitional provision is not possible as the 
category of the transitional provision depends on the transitional provision an entity actually makes use of. 

IPSAS 9: Revenue from exchange transactions 

The IPSASB confirmed that for IPSAS 9 no transitional provisions should be provided. 

IPSAS 10: Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies 

The IPSASB confirmed that for IPSAS 10 no transitional provisions should be provided. 

IPSAS 11: Retrospective recognition of contract costs that relate to future activity on the contract 

At the September meeting staff proposed the retrospective recognition of such contract costs. The 
IPSASB confirmed staff’s view that for IPSAS 11 no relief should be provided. 

IPSAS 12: Initial measurement of inventories 

Staff revised its proposal based on the IPSASB’s view expressed at the September 2012 meeting. 
Entities should be allowed to use a deemed cost approach, based on fair value, for all three types of 
inventories at first-time adoption of IPSAS 12, except for inventories acquired in an exchange transaction 
and where cost information for such inventories is available. Staff considered the transitional provision as 
a category 1 transitional provision. The IPSASB confirmed this view. 

IPSAS 13: Retrospective application of IPSAS 13 and Restatement of finance leases by a lessee 

Staff pointed out that the current transitional provision in IPSAS 13.81 only applies to entities that have 
already adopted the accrual basis of accounting. Therefore, it is not clear whether entities previously 
applying the cash basis of accounting should apply IPSAS 13 prospectively or retrospectively at first-time 
adoption of accrual basis IPSASs. Staff proposed that entities should not be required to apply IPSAS 13 
retrospectively, irrespective of an entity’s previous basis of accounting. The IPSASB generally supported 
the view that entities should be required to identify all of their existing finance lease assets and their 
corresponding liabilities at the date of transition to accrual basis IPSASs. Applying IPSAS 13 
prospectively at first-time adoption was considered as inappropriate. The IPSASB also acknowledged the 
linkage of the transitional provisions of IPSAS 17 and the finance lease assets. The IPSASB generally 
supported the view that, by analogy to IPSAS 32, entities should be required to follow similar transitional 
provisions for the measurement of existing finance lease assets at first-time adoption. 

IPSAS 14: Events after the reporting date 

The IPSASB confirmed that for IPSAS 14 no transitional provisions should be provided. 

IPSAS 15: Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation 
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The IPSASB confirmed staff’s view that for IPSAS 15 no transitional provisions should be provided. 

IPSAS 16: Recognition of investment property at first-time adoption of accrual basis IPSASs 

Based on the IPSASB’s recommendation at the September 2012 meeting and the revised analysis, staff 
proposed that entities should not be required to recognize investment property beginning on a date within 
five years following the date of transition to IPSASs. The IPSASB generally supported the view that in line 
with IPSAS 17 only a grace period of 3 years for the recognition of investment property at first-time 
adoption should be provided. The IPSASB confirmed that the transitional provision should be considered 
as a category 2 transitional provision. 

IPSAS 16: Initial measurement of investment property 

The IPSASB reconfirmed that (a) entities should be allowed to apply the deemed cost approach based on 
fair value for investment property as provided by IFRS 1.D5-D7 if the entity elects to use the cost model in 
IPSAS 16 and (b) entities should be allowed to measure investment property acquired at no cost, or for a 
nominal cost using the deemed cost approach at first-time adoption. Staff considered the transitional 
provisions as category 1 transitional provision. The IPSASB confirmed this view. 

IPSAS 17: Recognition of property, plant and equipment at first-time adoption of accrual basis IPSASs 

Based on IPSASB’s recommendation at the September 2012 meeting and the assessment staff proposed 
that entities should not be required to recognize property, plant, and equipment beginning on a date within 
five years following the date of transition to IPSASs. The IPSASB generally supported the view that only a 
grace period of 3 years for the recognition of property, plant, and equipment at first-time adoption should 
be provided. A transition period of three years was considered as feasible, as well as more manageable 
from a management point of view, than a five year period. Staff considered the transitional provision as a 
category 2 transitional provision. The IPSASB confirmed this view. 

IPSAS 17: Initial measurement of property, plant, and equipment 

The IPSASB reconfirmed that (a) entities should be allowed to apply the deemed cost approach based on 
fair value for property, plant, and equipment as provided by IFRS 1.D5-D7 and (b) entities should be 
allowed to measure investment property acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost using the deemed cost 
approach at first-time adoption. The IPSASB confirmed that this transitional provision should be 
considered as a category 1 transitional provision. 

IPSAS 18: Requirement to disclose financial information by segments 

The IPSASB generally supported the view that entities should not be required to disclose financial 
information by segments on a date within three years following the date of first adoption of accrual basis 
IPSASs. The IPSASB confirmed that this transitional provision should be considered as category 1 
transitional provision. 

Assessments of transitional accounting issues of IPSASs 19 to IPSAS 22, IPSAS 24, IPSASs 26 to 27 
and IPSAS 31 

Staff noted that (a) assessments for IPSAS 23, Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and 
Transfers), IPSAS 25, Employee Benefits, IPSAS 28-30, Financial Instruments, and IPSAS 32, Service 
Concession Arrangements, (b) consideration of overarching issues related to transitional provisions at 
first-time adoption and (c) an assessment of the reporting of the effect of the initial application of a 
Standard will be provided to the IPSASB at the next meeting.  
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IPSAS 19: Recognition (and measurement) of provisions at first-time adoption of accrual basis IPSASs 
(other than decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities) and Disclosure of contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets at first-time adoption 

Staff noted that decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities will be covered as an overarching 
issue at the next IPSASB meeting. 

The IPSASB generally supported the view that provisions (other than decommissioning, restoration and 
similar liabilities) should be recognized and measured according to IPSAS 19 at first-time adoption of 
accrual basis IPSASs. The Board also supported the view that entities should be required to disclose 
contingent liabilities and contingent assets at first-time adoption. 

IPSAS 20: Requirement to disclose related party relationships, related party transactions and information 
about key management personnel at first-time adoption 

Based on the assessment performed, staff proposed that no transitional provision should be provided. 
Members were of the view that this requirement should be treated in the same way as the required 
eliminations of balances, transactions, revenues, and expenses between entities by IPSAS 6 and 8. The 
IPSASB generally supported the view that entities should not be required to disclose related party 
relationships, related party transactions and information about key management personnel at first-time 
adoption on a date within three years following the date of first adoption of accrual basis IPSASs and that 
entities which are able to disclose such information should be encouraged to do so. 

IPSAS 21: Retrospective accounting for impairment of non-cash generating assets 

Staff proposed to keep the existing transitional provision in IPSAS 21, i.e. entities should not be required 
to apply IPSAS 21 retrospectively. Staff noted that, as a consequence, entities would be required to 
perform an impairment test under IPSAS 21 for its non-cash generating assets in the opening statement 
of financial position if there is any indication at the date of transition that the respective assets are 
impaired. Staff considered the transitional provision as a category 1 transitional provision. The IPSASB 
confirmed these views. 

IPSAS 26: Retrospective accounting for impairment of cash generating assets 

Staff noted that IPSAS 26 does not provide any transitional provisions. Staff assumed that by analogy to 
IPSAS 21 entities would not be required to account for impairments of cash generating assets on a 
retrospective basis. Staff proposed that entities should be required to apply IPSAS 26 prospectively. Staff 
noted that, as a consequence, entities would be required to perform an impairment test under IPSAS 26 
for its cash generating assets in the opening statement of financial position if there is any indication at the 
date of transition that the respective assets are impaired. Staff considered the transitional provision as a 
category 1 transitional provision. Members added that this transitional provision would only apply to 
assets which are measured based on their historic cost. Members discussed the presentation of an 
impairment loss at the date of transition in the entity’s first IPSAS financial statements. Staff noted that 
according to IPSAS 21 such an effect would be reported in the entity’s first IPSAS statement of financial 
performance. Members discussed the following alternative options (a) measuring such assets at their 
recoverable amount without reporting the impairment loss (difference between cost (less any 
accumulated depreciation) and recoverable amount) neither in the opening statement of financial position 
nor in the entity’s first statement of financial performance, (b) measuring such assets at their recoverable 
amount and reporting the effect either (i) in the entity’s first IPSAS statement of financial position in net 
assets/equity, or (ii) in the entity’s first IPSAS statement of financial performance. With respect to option 
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(a) it was noted that the recoverable amount would become the asset’s deemed cost and the effect could 
not be reversed in future periods. Therefore, assets existing at the date of transition would be treated 
differently than the same assets acquired after the date of transition. With respect to option (b) it was 
noted that option (b) (ii) would be better than (b) (i) as the presentation of the effect would be more 
representationally faithful than reporting it through net assets/equity. However, it was also argued that 
reporting the effect through the statement of financial performance as per option (b)(ii) would misinform 
users as the impairment actually occurred in prior periods.  

In summary, it was concluded that no difference should be made between the transitional provisions of 
IPSAS 21 and IPSAS 26. Staff were requested to propose a revised draft transitional provision for 
IPSAS 26 for the next meeting. 

IPSAS 27: Recognition of biological assets and agricultural produce at first-time adoption of accrual basis 
IPSASs 

The IPSASB generally supported the view that entities should not be required to recognize biological 
assets and agricultural produce immediately on transition to IPSASs. In line with IPSAS 16 and 17 a 
grace period of 3 years for the recognition of such assets at first-time adoption should be provided. The 
IPSASB confirmed that the transitional provision should be considered as a category 2 transitional 
provision. 

IPSAS 31: Retrospective recognition (and measurement) of intangible assets and Initial measurement of 
intangible assets 

Staff outlined that during the analysis, some critical issues with the existing transitional provisions in 
IPSAS 31 were identified. The distinction in IPSAS 31 between entities which have previously recognized 
intangible assets and those which have not might not be a suitable approach for transitional provisions for 
the recognition (and measurement) of intangible assets at first-time adoption. The rationale for the current 
transitional provision in IPSAS 31 was that it was assumed that there are fewer intangible assets than 
tangible assets and that there was less information available for property, plant and equipment than for 
intangible assets. The IPSASB generally supported the view that with regard to transitional provisions for 
intangible assets no distinction should be made between tangible and intangible assets, and therefore the 
same transitional provisions as for IPSAS 17 should be provided. Staff considered this transitional 
provision as a category 2 transitional provision. 

In the context of the discussions about the 3 year grace period the IPSASB clarified that the grace period 
of 3 years does not need to be applied in the same way to all assets of an entity, it can be applied to each 
individual category of assets separately. 

With regard to the initial measurement of intangible assets the IPSASB generally supported the view that 
in line with IPSASs 16 and 17 entities should be allowed to measure intangible assets using the deemed 
cost approach at first-time adoption. Reliable measurement of original cost should be excluded as 
criterion for the application of the deemed cost approach at first-time adoption but not the existence of an 
active market. Entities would be allowed to apply the deemed cost approach when the intangible items 
meet: 

(a) The recognition criteria in IPSAS 31 (excluding reliable measurement of original cost); and 

(b) The criteria in IPSAS 31 for revaluation (including existence of an active market). 

Staff considered this transitional provision as a category 1 transitional provision. 
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Reconciliation requirements at first-time adoption 

The IPSASB supported the view that entities should only be required to present a reconciliation of its net 
assets/equity reported in accordance with its previous basis of accounting to its net assets/equity in 
accordance with IPSASs at the date of transition to IPSASs. Where an entity does not elect to present 
comparative information in its first IPSAS financial statement, the entity should neither be required nor 
encouraged to present reconciliations at the first annual IPSAS reporting date. Entities which elect to 
present comparative information in their first IPSAS financial statements should neither be required nor 
encouraged to present reconciliations at the end of the first comparative period. The IPSASB agreed that 
the IFRS 1 approach toward reconciliation is too onerous for public sector entities, is likely to delay 
compliance with IPSASs, and that users will likely not make use of such reconciliations. In addition, such 
information does not provide feedback or predictive value. These arguments should be provided in the 
Basis for Conclusions when outlining the rationale for the reconciliation requirements in the IPSAS. 

The IPSASB supported the view that an entity which has applied the cash basis under their previous 
basis of accounting should not be required to present a reconciliation of its net assets/equity reported in 
accordance with its previous basis of accounting to its net assets/equity in accordance with IPSASs at the 
date of transition to IPSASs. However, an entity which has applied the cash basis under their previous 
basis of accounting should be required to present a reconciliation of its cash balances when the ending 
cash balance under their previous basis of accounting and the cash balance in the opening IPSAS 
statement of financial position are different.  

With respect to requirements for disclosure of narrative information about material adjustments in an 
entity’s first IPSAS financial statements the IPSASB generally supported the view that the first-time 
adoption ED should contain a requirement to disclose narrative information about the material items of an 
entity’s first IPSAS financial statements in the notes. Narrative information was considered as useful to 
users at first-time adoption. As an alternative to note disclosures, the IPSASB supported the view that 
entities should be allowed to present such narrative information in a report published at the same time as 
the first IPSAS financial statements. 

It was agreed that members’ comments on the ED should be provided to staff off-line. 

For the March meeting staff will bring back (a) the assessments of outstanding IPSASs, (b) an 
assessment of overarching issues at first-time adoption, (c) an assessment about the reporting of the 
effect of the initial application of a Standard at first-time adoption. 

The Chair thanked Mr. Heiling for the work he has done, thanked Ernst & Young for making Mr. Heiling 
available for this project and thanked the South African Accounting Standards Board (ASB) for its 
decision to support this project by providing staff resources going forward. Beginning 2013, the project will 
be taken over by a staff member of the ASB. 
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8. Reporting on the Long-Term Sustainability of Public Finances (Agenda Item 
8)  

Discussion of Issues and Review of Draft RPG  

The IPSASB discussed issues relating to the draft Recommended Practice Guideline (RPG), Reporting 
on the Long-Term Sustainability of an Entity’s Finances, and gave directions as set out below.   

Vulnerability Dimension 

The IPSASB discussed the proposal from the Task Force and staff to change the name of the 
vulnerability dimension to “revenue capacity.”  There was some support for this proposal.  It was noted 
that if this proposal was accepted the term “fiscal capacity” would need to be reconsidered because the 
dictionary definition of “fiscal” includes revenue.8  A member was concerned about changing terminology 
at this late stage of the project.  This member considered that the dimensions are a key component of the 
draft RPG and the IPSASB had agreed that this dimension should be termed “vulnerability.”  Another 
member commented that the Basis for Conclusions would need to explain clearly the reasoning for the 
change in terminology.  This member suggested changing vulnerability to “revenue vulnerability.”   

Several members commented that the draft RPG needs to clarify the links between the three dimensions.  
One member suggested that the definition needs to capture the notion that decreases in revenue capacity 
(vulnerability) can affect the other two dimensions.  Another member added that the draft RPG needs to 
explain that the dimension of fiscal capacity deals with the fact that governments need money to operate 
and the raising of revenue can be achieved in a number of ways: borrowing more, spending less or 
increasing the level of revenue received.  Another member commented that service capacity depends on 
external factors and the draft RPG needs to make this clear.   

The IPSASB directed staff to change the name of the vulnerability dimension to “revenue vulnerability” 
and consider developing a new term for fiscal capacity. In addition, a member suggested that the 
definition of the revenue capacity (vulnerability) definition be restructured so that an entity’s dependency 
on funding sources outside its control is first. Another member suggested that the definition of fiscal 
capacity should include reference to the raising of debt. 

The IPSASB also directed staff to clearly explain any changes in terminology in the Basis for Conclusions.  
The draft RPG also needs to capture the notion that changes in one dimension can affect the other two 
dimensions and clarify the links between the dimensions. 

Definition of Projection 

Staff proposed the following definition for a projection: 

“A projection is prospective financial information prepared on the basis of supportable 
assumptions about the entity’s policies, future economic and other conditions.” 

The IPSASB discussed this proposal and considered that the phrase “supportable assumptions” is vague 
and does not clearly articulate that the draft RPG requires the projections to be based on current policy 
with some limited exceptions. The IPSASB directed staff to consider whether a clearer term could be 
used instead of “supportable assumptions.” 

8  The definition of fiscal is “of or relating to taxation, public revenues, or public debt” (Webster’s Ninth New Collegiate 
Dictionary, 1984). 
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Indicators 

Staff proposed a new section on indicators (paragraphs 26B–26E).  The IPSASB considered that these 
paragraphs should be inserted immediately after paragraph 27A in the “Addressing the Dimensions of 
Long-Term Fiscal Sustainability” section rather than in a separate section. 

Paragraph 26D in this section explained that the indicators may be calculated using amounts recognized 
in accordance with IPSAS requirements, Government Finance Statistics reporting guidelines or other 
requirements. If the entity has used indicators derived from non-IPSAS based sources it should disclose 
that fact.  The IPSASB considered that this paragraph was too detailed and suggested that the draft RPG 
should require an entity to disclose the fact it has used indicators derived from non-IPSAS based sources 
without mentioning specific sources. 

Exceptions to the Use of Current Policies 

Staff proposed, in paragraph 40(c), that one of the instances where a departure from current policy may 
be appropriate is where a policy has been changed in a consistent direction over time. Paragraph 41A 
included an example. A member commented that the inclusion of this sub-paragraph would considerably 
widen the instances where an entity could depart from current policy and considered that this would lead 
to projections being calculated using assumptions that are not supportable. Furthermore, this exception 
would allow entities to present projections that would disguise the size of the fiscal gap. Therefore, this 
member considered that this exception should be deleted. Another member commented that if this 
exception is deleted, the draft RPG would not address the issue of fiscal drag where, if current policy is 
used, all taxpayers will be eventually projected to be on the highest income tax rate. This member 
explained that this issue is usually addressed by projecting income tax revenues as a pre-determined 
percentage of GDP.   

Review of Draft RPG 

The IPSASB reviewed the draft RPG and members made comments on specific paragraphs, as follows: 

• Paragraph 1, last sentence: ... sustainability of the an entity’s finances over a specified time 
horizon ... 

• Paragraph 2, second sentence: ... The reporting of information in accordance with this RPG good 
best practice. 

• Paragraph 3, first sentence: The scope of this RPG includes all an entity’s projected flows. 

• Paragraph 5, first sentence: This RPG applies can apply to  

• Paragraph 7, definition of inflows: Inflows are cash and cash equivalents projected to be received 
or accrued by the entity over the time horizon of the projections. 

• Paragraph 7, definition of outflows: Outflows are cash and cash equivalents projected to be paid 
or incurred by the entity over the time horizon of the projections. 

• Paragraph 10: ... an entity needs to assess whether which potential users ... 

• Paragraph 12(c): Part (c) says “... users are made aware whether or not the controlling entity 
reports long-term fiscal sustainability information.”  JP A member asked whether this is relevant to 
the entity reporting LTFS information.   
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• Paragraph 14: those entities should be identified, and, where possible, the estimated impact on 
the projections disclosed. 

• Paragraph 16A: ... form an overall assessment of the long-term fiscal sustainability of the entity 
and including the nature and extent ... 

• Paragraph 16B: This paragraph should include a reference to indicators. 

• Paragraph 16B: This paragraph should include more information relating to the QCs and could be 
based on the text in paragraph 3.15 of the Conceptual Framework. 

• Paragraph 16C: This paragraph should refer more broadly to the constraints of GPFR rather than 
just referring to materiality. 

• Paragraph 16E: This paragraph should be moved back to its original position as paragraph 18.  

• Paragraph 17, first sentence: ... projections of all prospective inflows and outflows, including those 
related to capital expenditure, ... 

• Old paragraph 20: This paragraph is proposed for deletion, but should be reinserted. 

• Paragraph 25: This paragraph refers to fiscal dependency but the Appendix does not include a 
definition and should do. 

• Paragraph 26B:  This paragraph need only refer to sub-part (a) because the other sub-parts make 
the paragraph tautological. 

• Paragraph 26E: Sub-part (a) of this paragraph should be deleted. There should be disclosure of a 
comparison of indicators to the last LTFS report.  This could be achieved by moving the content of 
paragraph 37A to this paragraph. 

• Paragraph 36A (a): The main entities on which the entity is fiscally dependent on funding... 

• Section “Principles and Methodologies” (paragraphs 38–50): The disclosure requirements should 
be grouped together. 

• Paragraph 43: Delete the footnote explaining the definition of GDP. 

• Paragraph 47: Reference to underlying macro-economic policy should be kept to limit the entity’s 
disclosure of other publicly available reports to those relevant to reporting LTFS information. 

• Heading above paragraph 50: The word “Reliability” should be deleted from the heading and 
another word used.  

Continue to Develop the Draft RPG into Non-authoritative Guidance  

The IPSASB agreed that the issue of whether the document should be an authoritative standard or non-
authoritative guidance would be deferred until criteria have been developed for the determination of the 
status of a document.  

Next Steps 

The IPSASB agreed that a revised draft RPG will be considered at the March 2013 meeting, The IPSASB 
noted that the status of the guidance will be considered separately at that meeting. 

Prepared by: (December 2012) Agenda Item 1.3 Page 29 of 41 
 



Draft Minutes September 2012 IPSASB Meeting  
IPSASB Meeting (December 2012) 

9. Consultation of Work Program 2013-2014 (Agenda Item 9)  
The Technical Director (TD) introduced materials on the work plan consultation for 2013-2014. It was 
noted that no decisions on additional projects would be taken at this meeting given that there will be four 
new members effective January 1, 2013. Further discussions will be undertaken in March 2013 and 
decisions will be taken once the IPSASB has further deliberated the issues. 

For purposes of these discussions the TD suggested that rather than focusing directly on the agenda 
materials, which provided a preliminary outline of respondents’ comments, the IPSASB discuss some of 
the factors it thinks need to be considered and weighed in ultimately selecting projects for the work 
program. Members agreed that this would be worthwhile and should be undertaken without discussing 
specific projects. 

In addition to the comments from respondents, factors the TD proposed included, among others, the 
IPSASB’s strategic areas of focus, committed projects, the MOU with IASB and related convergence 
challenges and resources.  

Members had an extended discussion about a number of criteria that will need to be factored into future 
discussions. Other criteria and issues raised included: 

• the capacity of the system to cope with new standards; 

• jurisdictional issues; 

• likelihood of succeeding; 

• reconsidering committed projects; 

• balancing the work program; 

• changes in the environment; and 

• gaps in the existing standards. 

Members noted the difficulties in assessing priorities given differing experiences and disparate views. 
There was some discussion of the need to assess not only the importance of projects but also the relative 
urgency based on many of these criteria. 

One of the observers expressed reservations about the methodology in the agenda materials for reducing 
the number of projects for analysis which was focused on simple numbers of support. It was noted that 
this was a preliminary analysis given the short timing from the end of the response date and it was agreed 
that ultimately these other criteria being discussed will be more fundamental in making decisions. It was 
agreed that further analysis should include grouping the responses by function. 

Members cautioned on making decisions to add new projects to the work program but waiting a long time 
before initiation and being sure that this does not raise expectations of constituents. The possibility of 
agreeing one additional project in March and deferring further decisions until June was also discussed. 
While members agreed that specific projects would not generally be discussed, there were nonetheless 
some general observations made about commencing a project on social benefits. Comments varied; 
some members were supportive, but cautious based on previous experiences on the project. Other 
members were more enthusiastic about the need to address such a major issue fairly urgently, though 
they acknowledged the need to consider any project plan and process very carefully to enhance the 
chances for success. 
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Members also discussed the future broader review of the IPSASB’s strategy and work program for the 
period post 2014. It was agreed that the process to undertake that review needs to commence fairly early 
in 2013 in order to be well positioned once the conceptual framework project is completed, currently 
anticipated being in 2014. Members also acknowledged the impact that changes to oversight and 
governance could have on the work program.  

Criteria on Type of Guidance  

One respondent to the work plan consultation proposed a project to consider criteria for the type of 
guidance to be issued by the IPSASB. This is not directly related to the IPSASB’s work program but was 
raised in the agenda materials as a proposal because of the respondent’s comments.  During the 
discussions on the service performance reporting project (agenda item 3) the IPSASB agreed that it 
would be valuable to develop such criteria. It was agreed that staff would bring these materials to the 
March 2013 meeting as a separate agenda item (unrelated to the work program). 

 

Mixed groups issue 
 

As part of the agenda materials for this item, the issue of mixed groups was raised, as highlighted in 
correspondence from the New Zealand XRB. The IPSASB member from NZ provided an overview of their 
experience with the issue and noted that as adoption of IPSASs increases this is likely to gain in 
prominence. While members were generally sympathetic to the issues raised, they were concerned that 
any activities related to the issue could be resource intensive and were reluctant to commit to addressing 
it in any direct way. Monitoring activities of the IASB is helpful and there was some discussion about 
considering whether a research project might be discussed at some point. No firm decisions were made 
on the issue. 

10. Update of IPSASB 6-8 
The IPSASB discussed and provided feedback on issues arising from the following draft exposure 
drafts (EDs): 

(a) ED X, Consolidated Financial Statements (based on IFRS 10);  

(b) ED X, Joint Arrangements (based on IFRS 11); and 

(c) ED X, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (based on IFRS 12). 

The IPSASB also: 

(a) Noted that the IASB has concluded its Investment Entities Project and has issued Investment 
Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27); and 

(b) Confirmed the agenda items for the March 2013 meeting. 

Members were requested to provide editorial comments on the draft EDs directly to project staff.  

ED X, Consolidated Financial Statements  

Issue 1.1: Exemptions–Intermediate Controlled Entities  

The IPSASB considered the circumstances in which an intermediate controlled entity need not present 
consolidated financial statements (as set out in paragraph 4(a) of the ED). The IPSASB agreed that the 
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rights of owners (including the rights of a non-controlling interest) should be further protected by also 
requiring that owners be informed of, and not otherwise object, to the controlling entity not presenting 
consolidated financial statements.  

Issue 1.2: Exemptions–Temporary Control  

The IPSASB considered the three options presented in the agenda papers. These were: 

(a) Option A: Remove the temporary control exemption. Under this option a controlling entity 
would consolidate temporarily controlled entities; 

(b) Option B: Make the temporary control exemption more restrictive. Under this option a 
controlling entity would account for temporarily controlled entities at cost or fair value (as per 
the separate financial statements of the controlling entity); and 

(c) Option C: Require equity accounting of temporarily controlled entities. 

The IPSASB discussed these options and agreed not to adopt Option B. The IPSASB agreed to further 
consider Options A and C at its meeting in March 2013 and noted that this would allow new Board 
members to participate in the debate. The IPSASB noted that under Option C it would still be necessary 
to have criteria for determining which controlled entities should be accounted for using the equity method.  

 

Comments made in support of Option A included (see also concerns raised in respect of Option B): 

(a) This approach can be justified conceptually. It requires consistent accounting for all controlled 
entities. Disclosure (under other options) is not a substitute for appropriate recognition of 
risks. 

(b) It can be difficult to identify temporarily controlled entities. 

(c) If investments are held for more than a couple of years it is difficult to justify accounting for 
them differently than other controlled entities. 

(d) It can be difficult to dispose of an investment in its current form. The public sector entity may 
need to retain responsibility for certain risks in order to dispose of the investment. A broader 
set of risks would be reflected in the financial statements under Option A than under the other 
options. 

(e) If the public sector is exposed to risks from its investments in “temporarily” controlled entities 
these risks should be reported consistently with its risk exposure from other investments.  

(f) Additional disclosures can address some of the issues that arise when large temporarily 
controlled entities are consolidated. 

 

Comments made by those who did not support Option A included: 

(a) Consolidation can be expensive, and in the case of entities that are held for a short time, the 
question is whether the benefits exceed the costs.  

(b) Consolidating large temporarily controlled entities (or entities that are not involved in core 
operations) can make it difficult for users to assess the financial performance and position of 
the controlling entity.  
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(c) Combining information on different statistical sectors is not useful. 

 

Comments made in support of Option B included: 

(a) Option B could be used to minimize the number of controlled entities that are accounted for 
differently.  

(b) Relief from the costs of consolidation is required. The proposed criteria for temporary control 
would provide relief to a specific group of entities.  

(c) One of the members that supported this approach expressed a preference for accounting for 
temporarily controlled entities at cost. 

 

Comments made by those who did not support Option B included: 

(a) In the public sector it can take longer than 2 years to dispose of an investment, and it is 
difficult to argue that such investments are temporary.  

(b) There could be difficulties if entities that have been classified as temporarily controlled are 
not disposed of within the time limits and then need to be consolidated from the date of 
acquisition. It could be difficult to obtain the information required to do this.  

(c) In the public sector intentions and the political and economic environment can change. This 
can lead to entities that were originally intended to be temporarily controlled being held for 
longer periods. 

(d) The criteria could be regarded as rules, rather than being based on principles. 
(e) It could be difficult to demonstrate that the criteria have been satisfied (for example, there 

were some concerns about identifying who management was and how to demonstrate that 
management was committed to the plan); 

 

Comments made in support of Option C included: 

(a) Some temporarily controlled entities could be larger than the public sector controlling entity, 
and, if consolidated could make it difficult for users to identify the financial performance and 
position of the controlling entity.  

(b) Some members that supported Option C would also propose to have additional disclosures 
regarding the temporarily controlled entities. Some of the possible additional disclosures 
suggested in the agenda paper in respect of Option A could also be required under Option C. 
It was suggested that it is easier for users to add in information about entities that have not 
been consolidated (under Option C) than it is for them to take out information about entities 
that have been consolidated (under Option A).  

(c) The agenda papers presented Option C as being an option for accounting for temporarily 
controlled entities. Some members considered that Option C might be appropriate for entities 
that a public sector entity has rescued from financial distress rather than for temporarily 
controlled entities. The possibility of equity accounting for all GBEs was also raised.  

(d) Equity accounting for certain controlled entities would be less expensive than requiring full 
consolidation (it was noted that equity accounting still imposes additional costs). 
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(e) Application of principles (as per Option A) may not always lead to the desired financial 
reporting outcome. In such situations the use of a rules based approach may be justified.  

(f) Equity accounting would be consistent with the way in which the general government sector 
reports its investment in other entities. 

(g) Equity accounting could provide information on some of the risks associated with the entities 
accounted for in this way.  

 

Members noted that some of the concerns about identifying temporarily controlled entities under Option B 
would also apply to Option C. A number of members commented on the difficulty of reaching a consensus 
view on which types of entities should be equity accounted and the criteria that should be used to identify 
such entities.  

In relation to Option C a member noted that there could be technical difficulties if, as a result of changing 
ownership interests, an entity had to consolidate a previously equity accounted investment. This issue 
can occur whenever an investment is reclassified from being an associate to a controlled entity. However 
the use of Option C would be likely to increase the number of instances in which this occurred. 

 

Issue 1.3: Terminology 

The IPSASB considered the terminology changes made in the exposure drafts and provided the following 
feedback: 

(a) The use of the term “benefits” rather than “returns” is appropriate in most cases. In a few 
instances where examples are referring solely to financial returns the term “returns” should be 
retained.  

(b) The proposed definition of “benefits” and the accompanying explanation was generally 
considered to be appropriate, but the ED should be reviewed to see if it deals appropriately 
with entities where there are fixed benefits. That is, the use of the phrase “variable benefits” 
should be reviewed. This issue will be considered at the next meeting. 

(c) The use of the term “entity” rather than “investor” and the use of the terms “another entity”, 
“other entity” or “controlled entity”, rather than “investee”, is appropriate in this ED. However, 
the terms investor and investee are to be used in ED X, Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures (the revised IPSAS 7). 

(d) The term “binding arrangements” should be reviewed to ensure that it is clear (particularly in 
ED X, Joint Arrangements). A member noted that the term has been used in different contexts 
in different IPSASs. For example, the term was used in IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement in relation to rights that are similar to contracts and in respect 
of willing parties. The member queried whether the intention was to limit the term to 
arrangements where there are willing parties or whether it was also intended to encompass 
other types of rights such as those created through legislation.   
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Issue 1.4: Uniform Reporting Dates  

The IPSASB noted the proposed text regarding uniform reporting dates (paragraph 21.7 of the ED). The 
IPSASB agreed to remove the words “Unless it is impracticable to do so” from the beginning of the 
paragraph and check whether the reference to “controlled entity” at the end of the body of the paragraph 
should be a reference to a controlling entity. Subject to these changes the IPSASB confirmed the 
proposed text.  

Issue 1.5: Franchises 

The IPSASB noted the examples of public sector franchise arrangements identified by project staff. The 
IPSASB considered that some of these arrangements might be license arrangements or service 
concession arrangements rather than true franchise arrangements and confirmed its view that franchise 
arrangements are uncommon in the public sector. The IPSASB therefore confirmed the deletion of the 
guidance on franchises (paragraphs AG29 to AG33 of the ED). 

Issue 1.6: Examples 

The IPSASB noted that the number of examples in the Application Guidance interrupted the flow of the 
Application Guidance. Project staff considered that the examples should be kept together and proposed 
that they all be included in the Application Guidance, or all moved to an Appendix of Illustrative Examples. 
The IPSASB agreed that all the Application Examples should be moved to an Appendix of Illustrative 
Examples (non-integral). The discussion of principles in the Application Guidance is to include references 
to the relevant examples.  

 

Issue 1.7: Flowcharts 

The IPSASB considered whether flowcharts showing (i) which standard to apply; and (ii) how to assess 
control should be included in the draft ED. The IPSASB agreed that  

(a) Flowchart 1 Involvement with Another Entity which helps an entity to identify which standard(s) 
to apply should be included in the ED as Implementation Guidance; and 

(b) Flowchart 2 Assessing Control of Another Entity for Financial Reporting Purposes should be 
included in the ED as Implementation Guidance. 

The IPSASB agreed that the two flowcharts should use similar wording to highlight the links between 
them.  

ED X, Joint Arrangements 

Issue 2.1: Types of Joint Arrangements  

The IPSASB confirmed the proposed definitions of joint ventures and joint operations. 

Issue 2.2: Removal of Accounting Option  

The IPSASB noted that IFRS 11 no longer permits the use of proportionate consolidation and confirmed 
that joint ventures should be accounted for using the equity method. 

Issue 2.3: Examples 

The IPSASB confirmed that public sector changes to Examples 1 and 2 in the Illustrative Examples 
section of the ED were required and were appropriate. It was suggested that Example 1 could be 
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extended to include shared services. One member agreed to provide more detail on the types of joint 
service arrangements that can occur in the public sector.  

ED X, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

Issue 3.1: Significant Judgments and Assumptions 

The IPSASB did not support the proposed disclosures regarding significant judgments and assumptions. 
Members considered that users need information on the methodology used to decide the existence or 
absence of control.  This methodology might be provided in the financial statements or published in some 
other form. Members noted that a public sector entity could be required to make many judgments and 
assumptions in relation to particular entities and that the disclosure of such judgments and assumptions 
could result in unnecessary detail. Paragraph 9 will need to be rewritten.  

Issue 3.2: Definition of Structured Entity 

Issue 3.3: Consolidated Structured Entities 

Issue 3.4: Unconsolidated Structured Entities 

The IPSASB considered the issues relating to structured entities (issues 3.2 to 3.4) together. The IPSASB 
focused on the issue of whether the concept of structured entities, as defined in the draft ED based on 
IFRS 12, is relevant in the public sector. The proposed disclosures will need to be revisited once the 
IPSASB has made a firm decision about which controlled entities, if any, should not be consolidated.  

 

Comments made in the context of this discussion included the following: 

• A public sector entity needs to be aware of its exposure to risks arising from its involvement with 
other entities. These risks may be operating or financial in nature. It would therefore be 
appropriate to consider disclosures about operating risk.  

• There may be situations where a government is exposed to financial risks but there may be no 
financial instruments involved in the arrangement. 

• Examples of entities that might be considered to be structured include entities established for the 
specific purpose of (i) fundraising; (ii) to issue debt; and (iii) providing facilities that would 
otherwise be provided by the public sector entity (and which would be resumed by the public 
sector entity if necessary). Under current GAAP, depending on the jurisdiction, some of these 
entities might not have been consolidated.  

• The appropriateness of the disclosures may depend on which structured entities will be 
consolidated and which will not be consolidated in accordance with ED X, Consolidated Financial 
Statements. The IPSASB requested more research on the types of structured entities that are 
likely to be consolidated in the public sector.  

• Governments may have risk exposures in respect of entities that are too significant in relation to 
the national economy to allow them to fail. Should these types of risks be required to be 
disclosed?  

• The relationship between the disclosures required by IPSAS 19, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets, and the structured entity disclosures in IFRS 12 should be further 
considered. The IPSASB noted that the disclosures in IFRS 12 are triggered by the existence of 
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certain risks in relation to structured entities, not the likelihood of those risks occurring.  The 
IPSASB also noted that it will be necessary to ensure that risks are not double counted (for 
example, by requiring disclosure of a risk as a contingent liability and as a disclosure in respect of 
a structured entity). 

• The IFRS 10 structured entity disclosures focus on certain types of relationships with other 
entities. By contrast with the private sector, such arrangements may be widespread in the public 
sector. The IPSASB expressed the view that there needs to be some threshold or way of limiting 
the disclosures so that they draw the readers’ attention to areas of high risk. The IPSASB 
considered that the information value of disclosures about types of relationships needs to be 
carefully considered as this may differ in the public sector.  

• The value of information for accountability and decision-making is likely to be influenced by the 
likelihood of risks occurring. For example, disclosure of information regarding remote risks or high 
numbers of low risk entities would be less useful.  

• A number of standards require risk disclosures. Would there be any benefit in combining these 
disclosure requirements in a single standard?  

Issue 3.5: Controlled Entities with Material Non-Controlling Interests 

The IPSASB confirmed the proposed disclosures on a material non-controlling interest. 

Issue 3.6: Joint Arrangements and Associates 

The IPSASB confirmed the proposed disclosures on joint arrangements and associates. 

 
Agenda Items March 2013  

The agenda items for March 2013 will include: 

1. Further consideration of Options A (consolidation of all controlled entities) and Option C (equity 
account for certain types of controlled entities) in the December 2012 agenda papers. This will 
involve looking at the arguments for and against permitting a controlling entity not to consolidate 
controlled entities and the circumstances in which this could be appropriate. It will also involve 
considering three different categories of entities: (i) temporarily controlled entities; (ii) controlled 
entities rescued from financial distress; and (iii) all Government Business Enterprises. The issues 
paper should explore the information value of equity accounting for controlled entities and have 
regard to the qualitative characteristics and constraints, and user needs in Phase 1 of the 
Conceptual Framework. It should also consider the impact of these options on other IPSASs. 

2. Consideration of possible presentation approaches under full consolidation and equity accounting. 
This should include possible segmental disclosures, including disclosure regarding the statistical 
sectors.   

3. A report back on the use of the terms “variable returns” and “binding arrangements”. 

4. Further consideration of the types of entities in respect of which disclosure of exposure to financial 
and operating risk would be appropriate. 

5. A copy of all five EDs comprising this project (although ED X, Consolidated Financial Statements 
will be provided solely to inform the discussion of issues – it will not be reviewed at the meeting).  
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11. Integrated Reporting (Agenda Item 11) 
Lisa French, Ian Carruthers and Ian Ball provided a presentation on the International Integrated Reporting 
Council (IIRC) and the work that is currently being undertaken. While this work is currently primarily 
private sector focused members had expressed interest in it as they could see it having relevance to and 
evolving towards the public sector. 

Integrated Reporting brings together material information about an organization’s strategy, governance, 
performance and prospects in a way that reflects the economic, social and environmental context within 
which it operates. It aims to provide a clear and concise representation of the organization’s stewardship 
and how it creates and sustains value.  

Integrated reporting spans financial and non-financial information and draws on existing reporting 
including: financial reporting, narrative reporting, governance and remuneration, and sustainability 
reporting. Its benefits are expected to include improved effectiveness and efficiency through a more 
rounded understanding of an organization’s activities and its impact. 

The notion of integrated reporting has arisen as concerns regarding the volume and complexity of 
financial reporting have been highlighted. Traditional financial reporting has been historical in nature and 
focused primarily on the financial statements. Yet there is much more in terms of strategy, governance, 
performance and future prospects that is relevant to investors. The challenge is how to report on these 
aspects concisely in a way that will add value for investors. 

Among others, the IIRC is comprised of standard setters, regulators, preparers and users. Currently the 
integrated framework being developed is being tested by over eighty businesses in a pilot program to 
illustrate emerging practices. The draft framework was developed through a due process which continues. 
Currently topic specific papers are being developed and a further consultation draft is planned for 2013. 

Ian Carruthers provided an update on a CIPFA project on issues with respect to integrated reporting and 
the public sector. This project is in the preliminary stages and members were encouraged to read the 
draft CIPFA paper and provide feedback as the project progresses. 

Members asked a number of questions and discussed a variety of issues. The Chair thanked Lisa, Ian 
Carruthers and Ian Ball for their contribution to the meeting. 

12. Closing Remarks and Conclusion of Meeting 
The Chair thanked those IPSASB members who are retiring for their participation. Isaac Umansky had 
been unable to attend but his contributions to the Board’s work were acknowledged. Marie-Pierre Cordier 
was acknowledged earlier during the meeting as she had to depart prior to the meeting’s end. Gratitude 
was expressed also to Hong Lou and David Bean for their efforts both at board meetings and in other 
areas such as providing staff resources and undertaking outreach. 

The meeting concluded at 2:30 pm on December 6, 2012. 
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13. Appendix 1 – December 2012 Action List 
Action Required Person(s) 

Responsible 
Date to be Completed 

1.  Conceptual Framework—General John Stanford  

• Update and re-circulate CF project plan  December 21, 2012 

2. Conceptual Framework—Phase 1 Paul Sutcliffe  

• Finalize Chapters 1–4 based on comments from 
Members 

 January 31, 2013 

• Chapters 1–4 to be published   January 31, 2013 

3. Conceptual Framework—Preface (Key 
Characteristics) 

  

• Provide revised draft Preface (Key Characteristics) 
to Members for inter-meeting review 

John Stanford / 
Paul Sutcliffe 

January 18, 2013 

• Members to provide comments on revised draft 
Preface 

Members February 1, 2013 

• Revise draft Preface for comments received and 
post for meeting 

John Stanford / 
Paul Sutcliffe 

February 25, 2013 

4. Conceptual Framework—Presentation   

• Provide revised draft CF–ED, Presentation to 
Members for inter-meeting review  

Gwenda Jensen January 25, 2013 

• Members to provide comments on revised draft 
CF–ED, Presentation  

Members February 8, 2013 

• Revise draft CF–ED, Presentation for comments 
received and post for meeting 

Gwenda Jensen February 22, 2013 

5. Criteria for Determining IPSAS or RPG Annette Davis  

• Draft criteria for determining when guidance should 
be an IPSAS or a RPG 

 February 25, 2013 

6. Service Performance Reporting TBD  

• Develop Exposure Draft based on directions on 
key issues 

 TBD 

7. Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis Annette Davis  

• Revise draft IPSAS in conjunction with TBG   February 18, 2013 

8. First-Time Adoption of Accrual Basis IPSASs Jens Heiling  

• Update Issues Papers (in conjunction with TBG) 
covering: 
o Approach applied for the assessment of 

transitional provisions 
o The assessments of transitional provisions for 

IPSASs 1–22, 24, 26, 27 and 31  

 January 9, 2013 

• Develop Issues Paper providing assessments of 
transitional provisions for IPSASs 23, 25, 28–30 
and 32 in conjunction with TBG 

 January 14, 2013 

• Revise draft ED in conjunction with TBG  January 14, 2013 

Prepared by: (December 2012) Agenda Item 1.3 Page 39 of 41 
 



Draft Minutes September 2012 IPSASB Meeting  
IPSASB Meeting (December 2012) 

Action Required Person(s) 
Responsible 

Date to be Completed 

• Develop Issues Paper on: 
o Overarching issues on first-time adoption 
o An assessment about the reporting of the effect 

of the initial application of a Standard on first-
time adoption 

 January 25, 2013 

9. Long-Term Fiscal Sustainability Annette Davis  

• Revise draft RPG in conjunction with Task Force  February 11, 2013 

10. Work Program Stephenie Fox  

• Develop list of criteria for assessing committed 
projects as well as those to be added to work 
program 

 February 18, 2013 

• Prepare materials for March 2013 IPSASB meeting 
for work program decisions 

 February 18, 2013 

• Develop outline for broader strategic consultation 
for period post 2014 to be discussed in March 2013 

 February 18, 2013 

11. Update of IPSASs 6–8 Joanne Scott  

• Develop Issues Paper including temporary control 
and structured entities 

 February 18, 2013 

• Revise draft Exposure Drafts based on IFRS 10–
12 

 February 18, 2013 

• Develop draft Exposure Drafts based on IAS 27 
and IAS 28 

 February 18, 2013 

12. Communications Staff  

• Action List posted to Intranet Annette Davis December 14, 2012 
• Power Point presentations posted to Intranet Leah Weselowski December 14, 2012 
• Draft minutes posted to Intranet TBD TBD 
• Update IPSASB Summary of IASB Work Plan and 

Tracking Table 
Annette Davis February 25, 2013 

• Meeting Highlights posted to Internet Annette Davis December 14, 2012 
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14.     Appendix 2 – Voting Record 

14.1 – Vote #1– Approve final chapter – Conceptual Framework Phase 1 

 
Agenda Item 2A Minutes Item 2A Date Vote Taken December 3, 2012 

Description 
Consultation 

Paper 

Conceptual 
Framework Phase 

1 

Approved at 
meeting 

Final Standard  □ ED  □ CP □ Other  

 

IPSASB MEMBER FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN ABSENT NOTES 

Andreas Bergmann, Chairman √     

David Bean, Deputy Chairman √     

Ian Carruthers √     

Marie-Pierre Cordier √     

Mariano D’Amore √     

Rachid El Bejjet √     

Sheila Fraser √     

Kenji Izawa √     

Hong Lou √     

Masud Mazaffar √     

Thomas Müller-Marqués 
Berger √     

Anne Owuor √     

Jeannine Poggiolini √     

Ron Salole √     

Adriana Tiron Tudor  √     

Isaac Umansky    √  

Ken Warren √     

Tim Youngberry √     

TOTAL 17 0 0 1 18 
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